2008

Wasatch County v. Utah State Tax Commissio, Warren and Tricia Osborn, et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme court had appellate jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Utah Code Section 78A-3-102(3) (j), because this appeal is from an order “over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction.” Namely, this is an appeal of the District Court’s dismissal of Wasatch County’s petition for *de novo* review of a formal hearing held before the State Tax Commission. The Tax Commission’s decision is included as Exhibit 1. The District Court’s decision is included as Exhibit 2. The Supreme Court poured this appeal over to this Court pursuant to Rule 42(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court now has jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to Utah Code Section 78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the District Court properly found that Wasatch County’s protective filing of a cross-petition for review in the Supreme Court deprived the District Court of subject matter jurisdiction to hear the County’s petition for review filed in District Court pursuant to Utah Code Sections 59-1-601 and 59-1-602?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has stated, “A challenge to subject matter jurisdiction presents a question of law, which we review for correctness.” *Ameritemps, Inc. v. Labor Comm’n*, 2005 UT App 491, ¶ 7, 128 P.3d 31.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION

- A. Utah Constitution, Article XIII, Section 6(4):
- “Notwithstanding the powers granted to the State Tax Commission in this Constitution, the Legislature may by statute authorize any court established under Article VIII to adjudicate, review, reconsider, or redetermine any matter decided by the State Tax Commission relating to revenue and taxation.”

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

- A. Utah Code Section 59-1-601 (District court jurisdiction over appeals from Tax Commission). Attached as Exhibit 3.
- B. Utah Code Section 59-1-602 (Right to appeal – Venue – County as party in interest). Attached as Exhibit 3.
- C. Rule 1(c) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure:
- “If a procedure is provided by state statute as to the appeal or review of an order of an administrative agency, commission, board, or officer of the state which is inconsistent with one or more of these rules, the statute shall govern. In other respects, these rules shall apply to such appeals or reviews.”
- D. Rule 14 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Attached as Exhibit 4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal is from the final decision of the Third District Court, Judge John Paul Kennedy presiding, issued August 1, 2008, dismissing Wasatch County's Petition for Review on jurisdictional grounds. This Order is attached as Exhibit 2.

B. Course of Proceedings

This case originated at the Utah State Tax Commission, where a formal hearing was held on December 18th and 19th, 2007. The commission issued its written Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Decision on April 1, 2008. This decision is attached as Exhibit 1. Wasatch County appealed this decision to the District Court for a *de novo* review, pursuant to Utah Code Sections 59-1-601 and 59-1-602, on April 25, 2008.

C. Disposition at Trial Court and Agency

The District Court dismissed the County's request for a *de novo* review, concluding that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it.

RELEVANT FACTS

This case originated in the Utah State Tax Commission. The tax appeals of the owners of seven parcels of property within Wasatch County were consolidated by the commission and a formal hearing was held on the consolidated case on December 18th and 19th, 2007. The commission issued its written Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Decision on April 1, 2008. *Record* at 9 to 33; Exhibit 1.

First Appeal—Supreme Court

On April 10, 2008, the property owners filed a Petition for Review in the Utah Supreme Court under case number 20080304. This case was subsequently poured over to the Court of Appeals and is being briefed simultaneous with the present case. A copy of the Petition for Review in case number 20080304 was not provided at the time of filing to Wasatch County. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court, by letter, notified Wasatch County of the property owners' petition, and counsel subsequently provided a courtesy copy of the same. Thereafter, in order to preserve its rights to affirmatively participate in the property owners' supreme court appeal, Wasatch County filed a Cross-Petition for Review with the Utah Supreme Court on April 24, 2008.

Second Appeal—District Court

The next day, on April 25, 2008, Wasatch County filed a Petition for Judicial Review by trial *de novo*, with the Fourth District Court, in and for Wasatch County, pursuant to Utah Code Sections 59-1-601 and 602. *Record* at 1 to 7. The case was initially assigned the case number 080500192. *Id.* On May 5, 2008, the Tax Commission, through counsel, requested assignment of the case to a tax judge pursuant to Rule 6-103 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration. *Record* at 37. The case was then transferred to the Third District Court, where it was assigned to Judge John Paul Kennedy and given the new case number of 080907392.

The owners of one of the parcels of property, Warren and Tricia Osborn (“the Osborns”), moved to intervene in the district court appeal and also moved to dismiss the

district court appeal for failure to join them as parties to the appeal. *Record* at 2 and 7.¹ Wasatch County and the Tax Commission agreed that, under the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Osborns had no need either to intervene or to be “joined” in order to participate in the County’s district court appeal because they were already parties to the case below. *Record* at 85-102 and 153-157. The district court agreed and allowed the Osborns to participate in the case without an intervention or joinder. *Record* at 204.

At oral arguments on the Osborns’ above-mentioned motions, counsel for the Osborns mentioned for the first time that there was “an issue” as to whether the county was entitled to exercise its right to district court review because the county had also elected to simultaneously participate in the Osborns’ supreme court appeal arising from the same Tax Commission decision. *Record* at 187 (an unofficial transcript of the hearing prepared by Osborns’ counsel). The court asked the parties to brief that issue and scheduled another hearing to address it. *Record* at 138.

At the scheduled hearing, the district court, without hearing argument, dismissed the County’s appeal on the basis that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction and “referred [the matter] back to the Appellate Court.” *Record* at 202. In so ruling, the district court felt that *Salt Lake County v. Tax Comm’n*, 596 P.2d 641 (Utah 1979) was dispositive. Exhibit 2 at 3-4; *Record* at 205-06. The Osborns’ counsel subsequently prepared an Order for the court and mailed it to counsel on or about July 29, 2008. *Record* at 207. Apparently, the Order was simultaneously submitted to the district court, which executed

¹ The Record starts over at page 1 after the first 39 pages of it. Therefore, the page numbers 1 through 39 are used twice in the Record. This citation is to the second page numbers 2 and 7.

the Order without the benefit of counsel's review on August 1, 2008. The Order, as prepared by counsel and signed by the court, bases the dismissal on the fact that the county had cross-petitioned in the Osborns' supreme court appeal and thereby foreclosed its opportunity to appeal to the district court.

The present appeal constitutes the county's appeal from this Order.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Utah law accords all parties to a Tax Commission decision the right to choose whether to seek a record-review by the Utah Supreme Court or a *de novo* review by a district court. It does not, however, provide guidance for handling a disagreement among the parties as to which appellate path to take. Nevertheless, no statute allows one party's selection of one option to preempt another party's selection of another. Nor does a statute prohibit a party from both protecting its standing in one appeal filed in the supreme court by an opposing party and also seeking *de novo* review in a district court. Instead, the only requirement under the law is that all petitions for review, in whatever court, be filed within 30 days of the commission's decision. Wasatch County followed these rules precisely in initiating its district court review.

The right to obtain district court review is an important one. It was preserved through the cooperative efforts of the people and their legislators through a constitutional amendment and the reenactment of judicially invalidated legislation. It discourages a competitive and secretive race to the courthouse. It promotes the efficient use of judicial resources by ensuring that factual issues are fully developed, to the satisfaction of the parties, before the appellate courts conduct their review. And it also allows the appellate

courts the benefit of a district court's review of the legal issues involved in a tax commission decision. For all of these reasons, even if there were any ambiguities in the statute authorizing district court review, such ambiguities should be construed with an eye towards preserving the right to district court review, and not eviscerating it.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

I. *ALL PARTIES TO A TAX COMMISSION DECISION ARE GIVEN THE OPTION OF APPEALING TO THE COURT OF THEIR CHOICE; AND NO PARTY'S EXERCISE OF THAT OPTION CAN EXTINGUISH ANOTHER'S.*

Utah Code Section 59-1-602 (emphasis added) provides as follows:

(1) (a) Any aggrieved party appearing before the commission or county whose tax revenues are affected by the decision may *at that party's option* petition for judicial review in the district court pursuant to this section, or in the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals pursuant to Section 59-1-610.

(b) Judicial review of formal or informal adjudicative proceedings in the district is in the district court located in the county of residence or principal place of business of the affected taxpayer or, in the case of a taxpayer whose taxes are assessed on a statewide basis, to the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County.

(c) Notwithstanding Section 63G-4-402, a petition for review made to the district court under this section shall conform to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

(2) A county whose tax revenues are affected by the decision being

reviewed shall be allowed to be a party in interest in the proceeding before the court.

Subsection (1)(a) of this statute authorizes *all* parties to a Tax Commission decision to choose the venue of their appeal therefrom—either the district court or the supreme court. However, while this statute is generous in its delegation of discretion to the parties to choose the venue for their appeal, it is somewhat parsimonious in its guidance on how to sort through the conflicts that can arise from the parties’ competing exercise of that discretion. For example, it does not provide instructions on how to proceed when different parties exercise different options. Neither does it resolve the issue of priority—i.e., which appeal should proceed first. Nor does it instruct on how to exercise one’s right to appeal to one venue while also protecting one’s standing in another party’s appeal in a another venue. All it does is give every party an equal right to appeal to the court of its choice.

While the statute may not provide guidance on how the courts should accommodate the exercise of competing appellate options, it certainly does not do what the appellees want it to do either. Namely, it does not provide a methodology for any party to extinguish another’s right to exercise the appellate option of that party’s choice. Under the present facts, the lower court found that because the county protected its standing in the appellees’ supreme court appeal one day before it exercised its option to seek district court review, the county somehow forfeited its option to obtain that district court review. Of course, had the county protected its standing in the appellees’ supreme court appeal one day *after* it exercised its option to seek district court review, appellees

would certainly have argued that the county had somehow mooted, abandoned, or otherwise extinguished its district court review. Perhaps the appellees would submit that the county's only valid method of exercising its option to obtain district court review without losing its inherent rights to assert appellate issues in the appellees' supreme court appeal (which could potentially occur without the benefit of intermediate district court review) would be by filing in both courts at precisely the same moment. Or perhaps they would argue that it is simply impossible for the county—regardless of the timing of its filings—to participate in both fora simultaneously: if the county ever desired to assert appellate issues in the appellees' supreme court appeal then there was simply no way it could ever initiate its own district court appeal. Fortunately the statute, which is one that grants all parties equal but competing rights of appeal, does not mandate such an unforgiving procedure.

Our supreme court has stated, “It is well settled in this court that our goal when interpreting a statute is to give effect to the legislative intent, as evidenced by the statute’s plain language, in light of the purpose the statute was meant to achieve.” *Summit Water Distribution Co. v. Summit County*, 2005 UT 73, ¶ 17, 123 P.3d 437 (internal quotations omitted). Here, section 59-1-602(1)(a) is a right-granting statute, not a right-restricting one. It openly grants adverse parties a competing right to appeal to different courts. Therefore, it clearly contemplates that the exercise of those rights may not always be in harmony with each other: appeals from the same commission decision may be simultaneously filed, and heard, in different courts. It would be contrary to the purpose of this statute to construe it to prohibit parties from participating in their opponents’

appeals. In fact, beyond being contrary to the statute's purpose, as will be shown next, such an interpretation would also unreasonably require parties to forfeit appellate issues.

Once an appeal from an administrative order is filed in any court, all parties below are *automatically* parties to the case on appeal, whether they want to be or not.

Viktron/Lika Utah v. Labor Comm'n, 2001 UT App 8, ¶ 3, 18 P.3d 519. And if any of these unwilling parties fails to file a timely cross-petition in their opponent's appeal, that opportunity is forever forfeited. *Id.* at ¶ 7; *see also Union Pacific Railroad v. State Tax Comm'n*, 2000 UT 40, 999 P.2d 17 (untimely petition from Tax Commission deprives court of jurisdiction); *see also* URAP 14(a) (requiring petitions for review to be filed within 30 days of the commission's order and to designate the part of the order to be reviewed). Thus, while the county would have preferred that the appellees *not* file their appeal in the supreme court (now pending in case number 20080304), once the appellees did so, the county was forced to either raise its appellate issues in that appeal or forever forfeit them, notwithstanding its preferred option of seeking district court review first.

The Utah Supreme Court has stated, “[W]e have said that where a statute is subject to more than one construction, we can interpret it to make sense, and sustain it.” *Park and Recreation Comm'n v. Dept. of Finance*, 388 P.2d 233, 234 (Utah 1964). The lower court interpreted section 59-1-602(1)(a) to prohibit the county's filing in district court even though the county had not initiated the supreme court appeal. Not only does this interpretation of the statute ignore its accommodation of competing appeals from the same commission decision, but it turns that accommodation on its head: instead of allowing parties to choose for themselves where an appeal will be heard, it allows

opposing parties to co-opt that choice by racing to the courthouse.² Once any party has selected a particular court for their appeal, under the lower court's interpretation, all other parties must either ignore their opponents' appeal—thereby forfeiting their appellate issues that must be raised only in their opponents' forum—or or they can preserve their appellate issues that must be raised in their opponents' forum and forever forfeit their own right to appeal to the court of their choice; they can never do both. Among the possible interpretations of the statute, this one would make the least sense.

Where 59-1-602(1)(a) generously allows parties to disagree on the optimal appellate path to take from a commission decision, it would be contrary to this legislative intent to create a rule that artificially limits that discretion. The full absurdity of such a rule becomes apparent when one considers that many cases before the commission involve far more than two parties. In fact, even the present appeal involves seven property owners, the county, and the commission. Were the seven property owners not represented by the same law firm, it is conceivable that some of them would have opted to exercise their right to *de novo* district court review while others could have chosen to file directly with the supreme court. In such a circumstance, applying the lower court's reasoning, the county would have had the Hobson's choice of picking only one of the competing appeals in which to raise its own appellate issues.

² In the present case, appellees filed their petition for review (in case number 20080304) in the supreme court nine days after the commission issued its decision and failed to notify or otherwise serve the county until a courtesy copy was provided attached to a letter several days later. This was probably a simple oversight. However, it betrays, somewhat, the possibility that there was just such a race to the courthouse in the present case.

This is an especially troublesome result where the nature of the appeals are different—i.e., one being a review of the record and the other being a trial *de novo*. Issues that are appropriate in a record review are, of course, different from those that are appropriate in a *de novo* review: the former has the potential to change the *law* of the case, and the latter has the potential to change the *facts*. Being forced to raise appellate issues in only one pending appeal to the exclusion of another can, colloquially speaking, leave a party winning one battle only to lose the war.

To apply the statute fairly, this Court should do its part to give full meaning and benefit of the statute to *all* parties in a way that extinguishes *no* party's option. Here, the parties obviously disagree on the most appropriate forum for appeal from the Tax Commission decision. Appellees prefer to be in this Court; the county prefers to be in the district court. To fulfill the purpose of the statute by accommodating all parties' options in the present case, and extinguish none's, this Court should reinstate the county's district court appeal. Doing so does not detract from the appellees' right to appellate review by this Court; but it does preserve the county's right to *de novo* review by the district court. However, by declining to reinstate the county's district court appeal, this Court would sacrifice the county's right to obtain district court review merely to preserve the appellees' right to continue in their current appeal before this Court (in case number 20080304), which right the appellees do not stand to lose anyway.

For the foregoing reasons, if a rule is to be established that nullifies the right to appeal a Tax Commission decision to district court, then such a rule should be established in advance and by statute. It should not be created after the fact, by creative statutory

interpretation, and in a way that conflicts with the language and intent of the statute that confers that right.

II. WASATCH COUNTY PROPERLY INVOKED THE JURISDICTION OF THE DISTRICT COURT.

As stated above, section 59-1-602(1)(a) gives every party to a commission decision the right to appeal to the venue of its choice. Section 59-1-602(1)(c) describes how the choice to seek district court review is expressed. This subsection requires petitions for review “made to the district court under this section [to] conform to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.” Rule 14 describes how to initiate such a review. *See also* URAP 1(c) (“If a procedure is provided by state statute as to the appeal or review of an order of an administrative agency, commission, board, or officer of the state which is inconsistent with one or more of these rules, the statute shall govern. In other respects, these rules shall apply to such appeals or reviews.”). It requires a “petition for review [to] be filed with the clerk of the appellate court,” in this case the district court, “within the time prescribed by statute, or if there is no time prescribed, then within 30 days after the date of the written decision or order.” URAP 14(a). The petition “shall designate . . . the order or decision, or part thereof to be reviewed.” *Id.* Additional requirements are that the petition name the commission as the respondent, and that the petition be served upon the commission, “upon all other parties to the proceeding before the agency, and upon the Attorney General of Utah.” URAP 14(a) and (c).

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