2008

# Wasatch County v. Utah State Tax Commission, Warren and Tricia Osborn, et al. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

aggrieved party must choose one forum (the Supreme Court) *or* another (the district court).

Neither can the County lawfully deprive the Taxpayers of their right of appeal to this Court, as the County has attempted, of a purely legal issue. This Court's resolution of the Taxpayers' appeal and the County's cross-appeal in Case No. 20080304-CA. could and should moot many, if not all, issues the County's second and statutorily precluded second attempt to appeal the Tax Commission's Final Decision for a trial de novo in district court.

Taxpayers are informed of two unpublished cases in which the issue of jurisdiction between the district court versus the Supreme Court has arisen under Section 602. The first case involved *Baker v Tax Commission* (20030949) and *Regan v. Tax Commission* (20030887). There, two taxpayers filed an appeal to the Utah Supreme Court, while a third taxpayer filed in the district court. The Tax Commission's Motion to Stay the district court appeal was denied.

The second case involved *Beaver County, et al. v. T-Mobile* (20051010-CA). In *T-Mobile* apparently the counties filed first in the Utah Supreme Court and the taxpayer filed second in the district court. The taxpayer moved to stay the Supreme Court appeal, which motion was granted.

A compelling and dispositive distinction between these non published cases and this case is the distinction Judge Kennedy articulated in the above-quoted questioning of Assistant Attorney General Timothy Bodily at oral argument on the Taxpayers' Motion to Dismiss the County's second appeal of the Tax Commission

Final Decision before the district court. No party in the cases cited above sought jurisdiction in a second court having first elected its remedy and invoked jurisdiction in this Court, as did the County in Case No. 20080304-CA, the first appeal, followed by Dist. Court Case No. 080907291, the second appeal. Once the County elected its remedy to file a Cross-Petition for Review in the Utah Supreme Court on April 24, 2008, the County's Second Petition for Review, filed in the Fourth District Court on April 25, 2008, was a nullity, and was properly dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

**II. THE COUNTY DEFIED UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 59-1-601 AND 59-1-602 NOT ONLY BY FILING A SECOND APPEAL, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 602, BUT BY ATTEMPTING TO FORCE THE DISTRICT COURT TO CONDUCT A "TRIAL DE NOVO" USING THE UTAH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 601.**

The County claims to have "faithfully followed the requirements of Section 59-1-602(1)(c) and Rule 14 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure to invoke the jurisdiction of the district court." County Brief at 13. This argument is without merit and internally inconsistent because Arguments II and III in County Brief presume and claim entitlement to a district court trial de novo governed by the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This is nonsensical. Once again, the County's argument defies Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-601(2), which expressly provides that "As used in this section, 'trial de novo' means an original, independent proceeding, and does not mean a trial de novo on the record." An

original, independent proceeding cannot be conducted pursuant to appellate rules, but must be conducted under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

In further response to the County's Argument II of its brief, Taxpayers reiterate their prior Argument I in this brief that the County is not entitled to a "trial de novo" before the district court, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-601 (district court jurisdiction), because the County violated Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-602(1)(a) by ignoring the statutory mandate to exercise an "option" and choose one forum (the district court) or another (the appellate courts), not both.

Yet, hypothetically assuming that the County is entitled to a district court review, the County has once again confused and distorted the statutory options. Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-602(1)(c) provides that "a petition for review made to the district court **under this section** shall conform to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure." (Emphasis added). The County then argues that "By properly following the procedures outlined in Rule 14 [of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure] to invoke the district court's jurisdiction, the county has clearly and unequivocally expressed its 'option' to have the district court conduct a de novo review." County Brief at 14.

Therefore, in addition to the County's violation of Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-602(1)(a) in NOT exercising an "option" for the district court OR the appellate court, the County confuses and distorts the remedies available to appellants of a Tax Commission final decision in district court. Appellate review is available on the record in district court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-602(1)(c). Such a



proceeding would be governed by the rules of appellate procedure. That remedy, however, is separate and distinct from and cannot be merged with the right for a trial de novo in district court under a separate statute, Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-601. Subsection (2) of Section 601 states that “As used in this section, ‘trial de novo’ means an original, independent proceeding, and does not mean a trial de novo on the record.” Hence, the County’s argument that its so-called right to a trial de novo using appellate procedures is nonsensical, even overlooking the County’s violation of Section 602(1)(a) in filing two appeals instead of choosing the district court OR an appellate court. This is because all trials de novo, especially those statutorily defined in Section 601(2) as an “original and independent proceeding,” cannot possibly be conducted using the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure if the district court is to take the statutory words “original and independent” seriously. A district court review of the record in a trial de novo pursuant to Section 602 under appellate rules is inconsistent and incompatible with Section 601’s definition of a trial de novo as an “independent” and “original” proceeding. As Mathew Cook, co-counsel for Taxpayers, described to Judge Kennedy:

**Judge Kennedy:**

And, therefore, there’s nothing to do here?

**Matthew Cook:**

Correct. If what they’re seeking is an appeal. An appeal is governed by Section 59-1-602 which indicates that it is an option. You can either appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals, the Utah Supreme Court or the Utah District Court. If an appeal is made to the Utah District Court under Section 59-1-602 then the Rules of

Appellate Procedure and the District Court sits as an appellate court in those circumstances. Whereas, if you file for a trial de novo under a different section which is 59-1-601, the rules of civil procedure apply and you must file the rules of civil procedure to invoke the district court's jurisdiction for a new trial. So, there's essentially two different avenues that you can take depending on what statute you're attempting to invoke the district court's jurisdiction under. If you're attempting to invoke this court's jurisdiction for a trial de novo you're under 59-1-601 the rules of civil procedure apply. If you're trying to invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction then you file under 59-1-602.

**Judge Kennedy:**

And what was done?

**Matthew Cook:**

They've essentially blended the two statutes together so in their petition for review they say they're filing under 59-1-601 and 59-1-602. And now the problem is if that if you are under 59-1-601 to invoke the court's jurisdiction you have to file a new complaint and the rules of civil procedure apply. Otherwise, the situation would be unworkable because Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure don't allow for entry of new evidence, new discovery and it is also important to note that in Wasatch County's petition for review they've asked for a new remedy which wasn't raised before the Tax Commission. It seems clear that the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure don't allow for new remedies.

(R. at 189.) Taxpayer Transcript at 10.

In essence, the County urges this Court to read Utah Code Ann. §§ 59-1-601 and 602 in piecemeal fashion, and then treat Utah Code Ann. §§ 59-1-601 and 602 as a single statute. But nowhere does Utah Code Ann. §59-1-601 provide that the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure govern a request for a new trial made pursuant to Section 601. The plain language of Utah Code Ann. §59-1-601 makes it clear that the purpose of the statutory citation to Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-402,

which grants the district court jurisdiction to review by trial de novo all final agency action resulting from **informal** proceedings, is to enlarge the jurisdiction granted in tax cases, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-402, to encompass review by trial de novo of final agency actions resulting from **formal** as well as informal proceedings. Further, Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-402 expressly provides, “the petition for review of informal adjudicative proceedings shall be by complaint governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.” Tax cases are unique in that an appeal from informal as well as formal adjudicative proceedings may be reviewed by “trial de novo” before the district court.

In other cases, Taxpayers’ counsel has participated in trials de novo before a district court taken on appeal from a Tax Commission final decision pursuant to Section 601(2). None of such trials has ever been conducted pursuant to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, nor could they be so governed. All such de novo trials have been conducted pursuant to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which must govern original, independent proceedings. The County’s arguments to the contrary, essentially that a district court can incorporate and apply appellate rules with trials de novo that are statutorily defined as “original” and “independent” proceedings in the district court, are frivolous. Such arguments do not meet the good faith standard under Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

**III. THE COUNTY ITSELF, AND NO ONE ELSE, HAS DEPRIVED THE COUNTY OF ITS RIGHT TO A DE NOVO TRIAL BEFORE THE DISTRICT COURT.**

The County's final arguments are to the effect that the right to a de novo district court review of a Tax Commission final decision is important and that the Utah Legislature and the people of Utah intended to preserve the viability of such right. County Brief at 14. Concededly, a taxpayer's or taxing authority's right to a trial de novo on appeal from a Tax Commission final decision is important, and, depending upon the unique facts and circumstances of a Tax Commission final decision, a taxpayer or county should be and is permitted to choose that option. However, the County's argument falsely presumes that the right to a trial de novo is somehow jeopardized when the County fails to comply with clear statutory law in petitioning for review of the Tax Commission's Final Decision in district court or in the Supreme Court, but not both. The County argues that the right to a trial de novo pursuant to Section 601 is an unqualified right. That is not an accurate assertion. A party must avail itself of its right to a trial de novo by following the procedures prescribed by Section 601 or else such right is forfeited. The County blames everyone else but itself for the forfeiture of its right to a trial de novo of the Tax Commission's Final Decision. The County's argument is totally without merit and cannot be made in good faith.

The County's brief devotes multiple pages to extolling the virtues of vesting parties aggrieved by a Tax Commission decision the "option" of a trial de novo, which no one disputes. The County accurately points out that the enactment

of Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-601 (which counsel for Taxpayers originally drafted, submitted and supported in the Utah Legislature) was intended to overturn, and did, in fact, overturn, the Utah Supreme Court decision in *Evans & Sutherland*, 953 P.2d 435 (Utah 1997), which held that taxpayers were not then entitled to a trial de novo in district court of a Tax Commission final decision resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings under the former Utah Constitution. Such arguments in the County's brief are frivolous because, once again, none of them is relevant to the issue at hand that this Court must decide – whether Judge Kennedy's Order dismissing the County's second, unauthorized and illegal appeal of the Tax Commission's Final Decision to this Court was lawful. No one's right to a trial de novo before the district court from a Tax Commission final decision is or has ever been in jeopardy.

Taxpayers do not argue that a trial de novo should not be a viable option to any aggrieved party appearing before the Tax Commission, including the County. In fact, counsel for Taxpayers have exercised the statutory option for a trial de novo before a district court on appeal from an adverse Tax Commission decision on several occasions for other taxpayers, but never after having first appealed to the Utah Supreme Court. Had the County complied with the clear and unambiguous language of Utah Code Ann. § 59-1-601(1) by exercising its option to petition for review for a trial de novo in district court, rather than first exercising its statutory option by seeking a review in the Utah Supreme Court, no

one would have or could have disputed the County's right to a trial de novo in district court.

In Case No. 2008034-CA pending before this Court, the Taxpayers exercised their statutory option to petition for review of the Tax Commission's Final Decision because they disagreed with the Tax Commission's Final Decision on a single legal issue – the allocation of property withdrawn from greenbelt. That issue is the subject of the Taxpayers' Petition for Review in Case 2008034- CA, in which the Taxpayers herein have filed their opening Appellants' brief. Had the County complied with Section 601 and petitioned for review, pursuant to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, in district court, rather than pursuant to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure in both the district court and the Supreme Court, the trial de novo would have proceeded without objection from the Taxpayers. Based upon the cases cited above in which one party appearing before the Tax Commission appealed to the district court and another appealed to the Utah Supreme Court, the appellate review of the Tax Commission Final Decision would likely have been stayed. But as Judge Kennedy emphasized in his comments to Assistant Attorney General Timothy Bodily, the County's appeal of the Tax Commission's Final Decision to the district court in this case, does not raise the situation in which one party appearing before the Tax Commission appeals to one forum and another party appearing before the Tax Commission appeals to another.

Rather, in this case, the County appealed to both the district court and the Utah Supreme Court in total disregard of Section 602. Hence, this Court should

not take it upon itself to rewrite Section 602 so that the County does not suffer the consequences of its own failure to read and comply with Section 602 by filing two appeals when Section 602's "either-or" language clearly authorizes only one appeal. The County's arguments that it has been deprived of a trial *de novo* before the district court by anyone other than itself are specious.

**IV. THE COUNTY'S TOUTED "EFFICIENCY" OF A TRIAL *DE NOVO*, AS COMPARED TO THIS COURT'S APPELLATE REVIEW OF THE TAX COMMISSION'S DECISION, IS NOT A PROPER ISSUE THIS COURT MUST, CAN OR SHOULD DECIDE**

The County's final argument in its brief, Argument IV, is that "allowing the County to enjoy its district court review is an efficient use of judicial resources." County Brief at 17. The County again argues the merits of having a statutory trial *de novo* option. The County then summarizes its view of the Tax Commission Final Decision, including the issues involved in the Tax Commission's Final Decision, and why, from the County's perspective, the legal issues involved in the case merit examination by a district court. County Brief at 21. These arguments are, once again, not only irrelevant to the issues before this Court, but further distort Section 601 and Section 602. The allocation issue, whether the Tax Commission's Final Decision correctly allocated value of a legally indivisible 160-acre lot to 10 acres of that lot is already before this Court in Case No. 2008034-CA.

Moreover, the only issue before this Court is whether the district court improperly determined that it lacked jurisdiction over the County's Second

Petition for Review. Even if there were sound policy reasons for the district court to retain jurisdiction, which there are not, no authority exists for the courts to create jurisdiction where it is lacking. “When we lack jurisdiction, we retain only the authority to dismiss the action.” *Varian-Eimac, Inc. v. Lamoreaux*, 767 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

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